
  

    
   

  

 
       

   

      
    

    

               
                

          

      

                  

      

                  

              

                   

 

  

      

    

Application: Charter School of Inquiry 

John Sheffield - jsheffield@csicharter.org 
2022-2023 Annual Report 

Summary 

ID: 0000000154 
Last submitted: Oct 30 2023 02:55 PM (EDT) 
Labels: Board of Regents 

Entry 1 School Info and Cover Page 

Completed - Jul 24 2023 

Instructions 

Required of ALL Charter Schools 

Each Annual Report begins with a completed School Information and Cover Page. The information is collected in a 
survey format within the Annual Report Portal. When entering information in the portal, some of the following items 
may not appear, depending on your authorizer and/or your responses to related items. 

Entry 1 School Information and Cover Page 

(New schools that were not open for instruction for the 2022-2023 school year are not required to complete or 

submit an annual report this year). 

Please be advised that you will need to complete this cover page (including signatures) before all of the other tasks 

assigned to you by your school's authorizer are visible on your task page. While completing this cover page task, 

please ensure that you select the correct authorizer (as of June 30, 2023) or you may not be assigned the correct 

tasks. 

BASIC INFORMATION 

a. SCHOOL NAME 

(Select name from the drop down menu) 

CHARTER SCHOOL OF INQUIRY 800000083428 
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a1. Popular School Name 

CSI 

b. CHARTER AUTHORIZER (As of June 30th, 2023) 

Please select the correct authorizer as of June 30, 2023 or you may not be assigned the correct tasks. 

BOARD OF REGENTS 

c. School Unionized 

Is your charter school unionized? 

Yes 

c1. Name of Union 

Select the name of the Union representing your school? 

American Federation of Teachers 

c2. Date Unionized 

Jul 1 2017 

d. DISTRICT / CSD OF LOCATION 

BUFFALO CITY SD 
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e. Date of Approved Initial Charter 

Aug 24 2015 

f. Date School First Opened for Instruction 

Aug 28 2015 

g. Approved School Mission and Key Design Elements 

(Regents, NYCDOE and Buffalo BOE authorized schools only) 

The Charter School of Inquiry promotes a safe and supportive community for children and families by infusing the 

heritage and culture of people of African descent, embracing the concept of Ubuntu and promoting academic 

growth through challenging student-led investigations. 

Rigorous inquiry-based curriculum; 

Academic focus on literacy; 

Responsive Classroom; 

Collaborative team teaching; 

Data-driven instruction and evidence of performance; 

African and African/American history and culture; 

Integrated arts 

h. School Website Address 

www.csicharter.org 
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344 

272 

i. Total Approved Charter Enrollment for 2022-2023 School Year 

j. Total Enrollment on June 30, 2023 - excluding Pre-K program enrollment 

k. Grades Served 

Grades served during the 2022-2023 school year (exclude Pre-K program students): 

Use the CTRL button to select multiple grades to accurately capture every grade level served. 

Responses Selected: 

k 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

l. Charter Management Organization 

Do you have a Charter Management Organization? 

No 
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FACILITIES INFORMATION 

m. FACILITIES 

Will the school maintain or operate multiple sites in 2023-2024? 

No, just one site. 

School Site 1 (Primary) 

m1. SCHOOL SITES 

Please provide information on Site 1 for the upcoming school year. 

Physical 

Address 

Phone 

Number 

District/CSD Grades to be 

Served at Site 

for previous 

year (K-5, 6-9, 

etc.) 

Grades to be 

Served at Site 

for coming 

year (K-5, 6-9, 

etc.) 

Receives 

Rental 

Assistance for 

Which Grades 

(If yes, enter 

the 

appropriate 

grades. If no, 

enter No). 

Site 1 

404 Edison 

Avenue, 

Buffalo, NY, 

14215 

716-833-3250 Buffalo K-6 K-6 No 
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m1a. Please provide the contact information for Site 1. 

Name Title Work Phone Alternate Phone Email Address 

School Leader 
John W. 

Sheffield 
Head of School 716-833-3250 

jsheffield@csich 

arter.orgg 

Operational 

Leader 
Lynn Monin 

Director of 

Operations 
716-833-3250 

lmonin@csichart 

er.org 

Compliance 

Contact 
Lynn Monin 

Director of 

Operations 
716-833-3250 

lmonin@csichart 

er.org 

Complaint 

Contact 
Valerie Nolan BOT Chair 716-833-3250 

valnolan@aol.co 

m 

DASA 

Coordinator 
Joseph Peek 

Associate 

Principal 
716-833-3250 

jpeek@csicharter 

.org 

Phone Contact 

for After Hours 

Emergencies 

John W. 

Sheffield 
Head of School 716-833-3250 

  

        

  

 
 

  

 
 

 
 

  

 

 

  
 

  

           

 

m1b. Is site 1 in public (co-located) space or in private space? 

Private Space 
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IF LOCATED IN PRIVATE SPACE IN NYC OR IN DISTRICTS OUTSIDE NYC 

m1d. Upload a current Certificate of Occupancy (COO) and the annual Fire Inspection Report for school site 1 if 

located in private space in NYC or located outside of NYC . 

Certificate of Occupancy and Fire Inspection. Provide a copy of a current and non-expired certificate of 

occupancy (if outside NYC or in private space in NYC). For schools that are not in district space (NYC co-

locations), provide a copy of a current and non-expired certificate of occupancy, and a copy of the current 

annual fire inspection results, which should be dated on or after July 1, 2023. 

Fire inspection certificates must be updated annually. For the upcoming school year 2023-2024, 

submit a current fire inspection certificate. 

If the fire inspection certificate is dated after the August 1, 2022 submission of the Annual Report, 

please submit the new certificate with the Annual Report entries due on November 1, 2023. 

Site 1 Certificate of Occupancy (COO) 

Certificate of Occupancy 3-3-23.pdf 

Filename: Certificate of Occupancy 3-3-23.pdf Size: 151.3 kB 

Site 1 Fire Inspection Report 

This is required, marked optional for administrative purposes. 

CSI School Fire and Building Safety Report 3.30.23.pdf 

Filename: CSI School Fire and Building Safety Report 3.30.23.pdf Size: 134.3 kB 

n. List of owned, rented, leased facilities not used to educate students 

Separate by semi-colon (;) 

None 

CHARTER REVISIONS DURING THE 2022-2023 SCHOOL YEAR 
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o. Were there any revisions to the school’s charter during the 2022-2023 school year? (Please include 

approved or pending material and non-material charter revisions). 

Please note, listing the revisions here does not constitute a request. Schools are advised to seek revision requests 

through their authorizer directly. 

No 

ATTESTATIONS 

p. Individual Primarily Responsible for Submitting the Annual Report. (To write type in a phone number with an 

extension, please use this format: 123-456-7890-3. The dash and number 3 at the end of the phone number 

refers to the individual's phone extension. Do not type in the work extension or the abbreviation for it - just the 

dash and the extension number after the phone number). 

Name John W. Sheffield 

Position Head of School 

Phone/Extension 716-833-3250 

Email jsheffield@csicharter.org 

q. Our signatures (Executive Director/School Leader/Head of School and Board President) below attest that all 

of the information contained herein is truthful and accurate and that this charter school is in compliance with 

all aspects of its charter, and with all pertinent Federal, State, and local laws, regulations, and rules. We 

understand that if any information in any part of this report is found to have been deliberately misrepresented, 

that will constitute grounds for the revocation of our charter. Click YES to agree and then use the mouse on 

your PC or the stylus on your mobile device to sign your name). 

Responses Selected: 

Yes 
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As outlined in ENTRY 10: 

Our signatures (Executive Director/School Leader/Head of School and Board President) below attest that our 

school has reviewed, understands and will comply with the employee clearance and fingerprint requirements 

as outlined in Entry 10 and found in the NYSED CSO Fingerprint Clearance Oct 2019 Memo. Click YES to 

agree. 

Responses Selected: 

Yes 

Signature, Head of Charter School 

Signature, President of the Board of Trustees 

Date 

Jul 24 2023 

Thank you. 
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Entry 2 Links to Critical Documents on School Website 

Completed - Jul 24 2023 

Instructions 

Required of ALL Charter Schools noting that SUNY-authorized charter schools are not required to submit item 
5: Authorizer-approved DASA policy and NYSED-Approved School Discipline Policy 

By law, each charter school is required to maintain certain notices and policies listed on its website. Please insert the 
link from the school’s website for each of the items: 

1. Current Annual Report (i.e., 2021-2022 Annual Report);[1] 
2. Board meeting notices, agendas and documents; 
3. New York State School Report Card; 
4. Authorizer-approved DASA Policy and NYSED-Approved School Discipline Policy (For Regents, NYCDOE, 

and Buffalo BOE-Authorized Charter Schools ONLY); 
5. District-wide safety plan, not a building level safety plan (as per the September 2021 Emergency Response 

Plan Memo; 
6. Authorizer-approved FOIL Policy; and 
7. Subject matter list of FOIL records. (Example: See NYSED Subject Matter List) 

[1] Each charter school is required to make the Annual Report publicly available by August 1 and to post on their 
respective charter school website. Each school should post an updated and complete version to include 
accountability data and financial statements that are not or may not be available until after the August deadline (i.e., 
Repost when financials have been submitted in November.) 

Form for Entry 2 Links to Critical Documents on School 
Website 

School Name: Charter School of Inquiry 
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Required of ALL Charter Schools noting that SUNY-authorized charter schools are not required to submit item 

4: Authorizer-approved DASA policy and NYSED-Approved School Discipline Policy 

By law, each charter school is required to maintain certain notices and policies listed on its website. Please insert the 

link from the school’s website for each of the items: 

New York State Report Card 

Emergency Response Plan Memo 

NYSED Subject Matter List 

Link to Documents 

1. Current Annual Report (i.e., 2022-2023 Annual 

Report) 

https://csicharter.org/apps/pages/index.jsp? 

uREC_ID=528880&type=d&pREC_ID=1011620 

2. Board meeting notices, agendas and documents 
https://csicharter.org/apps/pages/index.jsp? 

uREC_ID=528881&type=d 

3. New York State School Report Card 
https://data.nysed.gov/profile.php? 

instid=800000083428 

4. Authorizer-approved DASA Policy and NYSED-

Approved School Discipline Policy (For Regents, 

NYCDOE, and Buffalo BOE-Authorized Charter Schools 

ONLY) 

https://csicharter.org/apps/pages/index.jsp? 

uREC_ID=528927&type=d&pREC_ID=1011803 

5. District-wide safety plan, not a building level safety 

plan (as per the September 2021 Emergency Response 

Plan Memo 

https://csicharter.org/pdfs/School%20Safety%20Plan/C 

SI_Safety_Plan_10232019_Final.pdf 

6. Authorizer-approved FOIL Policy 

https://csicharter.org/apps/pages/index.jsp? 

uREC_ID=528927&type=d&termREC_ID=&pREC_ID=1 

041268 

7. Subject matter list of FOIL records. (Example: See 

NYSED Subject Matter List) 

https://csicharter.org/pdfs/School%20Policies/Records-

Subject-Matter-List.pdf 

Thank you. 

Entry 3 Progress Toward Goals 

Completed - Oct 25 2023 
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Instructions 
Regents, NYCDOE, and Buffalo BOE-Authorized Charter Schools ONLY 

The following tables reflect formatting in the online portal required for Board of Regents, NYCDOE, and Buffalo BOE 
authorized charter schools only. These charter schools should report all Progress Toward Charter Goals as per their 
currently approved charters no later than November 1, 2023. 

PLEASE NOTE: This is a required task, and it is marked 
optional for administrative purposes only. 
Entry 3 Progress Toward Goals 

PROGRESS TOWARD CHARTER GOALS 

Regents, NYCDOE, and Buffalo BOE-Authorized Charter Schools ONLY 

Complete the tables provided. List each goal and measure as contained in the school’s currently approved charter, 

and indicate whether the school has met or not met the goal. Please provide information for all goals no later than 

November 1, 2023. 

1. ACADEMIC STUDENT PERFORMANCE GOALS 

Regents, NYCDOE, and Buffalo BOE-Authorized Charter Schools ONLY 

The following tables reflect formatting in the online portal required for Board of Regents, NYCDOE, and Buffalo BOE 

authorized charter schools only. These charter schools should report all Progress Toward Charter Goals as per their 

currently approved charters no later than November 1, 2023. 
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2022-2023 Progress Toward Attainment of Academic Goals 

Academic Student Measure Used to Goal - Met, Not Met If not met, describe 

Performance Goal Evaluate Progress 

Toward Attainment of 

Goal 

or Unable to Assess efforts the school will 

take to meet goal. If 

unable to assess 

goal, type N/A for 

Not Applicable 

Academic Goal 1 ELA Absolute 

Measure 

Each year, 50% of 

students enrolled for 

at least two years at 

CSI will score at 

least at a Level 3 on 

NYS ELA 

assessments. 

NYS Grade 3-6 ELA 

assessments. 

Not Met The 2021-2022 

state assessment 

data was used 

as a post-pandemic 

baseline, after two 

years of no or 

unreliable data. 

In an Action Plan 

submitted to the 

NYS Education 

Department, CSI 

set a goal for the 

2022-2023 school 

year stating that the 

percentage of 

students scoring at 

or above 

proficiency on the 

2022-2023 NYS 

assessments would 

increase by 10% 

from the 2021-2022 

baseline. 

All cohorts at CSI 

increased in 

proficiency by more 

than 10%. 

Total cohort increase 

in proficiency in ELA 

from 2022 to 2023 

was 15.7%. 

13 / 53 



  

    

    

    

   

  

  

   

  

   

  

  

 

 

 

  

   

  

  

    

  

  

 

  

   

 

 

  

  

  

 

   

 

 

  

 

 

Grade 3 to 4 13% 

Grade 4 to 5 20% 

Grade 5 to 6 14% 

To continue to see 

this type of double-

digit growth as CSI 

advances toward 

meeting the goal of 

50% of students 

scoring at or above 

proficiency, CSI is 

using scaled scores 

and line-item 

analysis to address 

post-pandemic 

learning losses. 

In 2021-2022, CSI 

transitioned to a co-

teaching model, and 

the school continues 

to perfect the use of 

this model to close 

gaps in learning and 

more effectively use 

data to differentiate 

instruction. 

In the summer of 

2023, teams of 

teachers, 

administrators, and 

coaches from 

BOCES conducted a 

thorough review of 

the curriculum using 

line-item analysis 

from the 2023 NYS 

assessments and 

other sources of 

data. This process 

allowed CSI to 

identify and close 

gaps in the 

curriculum. 
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Following the 

leadership model of 

many other 

successful charter 

schools, CSI is 

splitting the position 

of associate principal 

into two positions: 

Associate Principal 

for Culture and 

Student Affairs, with 

laser-like focus on 

school culture, 

climate, and 

grooming students 

for success (10-

month position); and 

Associate Principal 

for Academics, with 

laser-like focus on 

academics and 

instruction, data 

trends, and stronger 

instructional 

accountability (12-

month position). This 

new leadership 

model will allow CSI 

to be less 

dependent on 

outside coaches and 

consultants from 

BOCES and 

strengthen our own 

internal capacity. 

The person in this 

new position will 

engage teachers in 

discussions on data 

on a regular basis 

and allow CSI to use 

data trends to better 

identify gaps in 

instruction more 

frequently. 
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Academic Goal 2 

ELA Comparative 

Measure 

Each year, the 

percentage of 

students enrolled 

for at least two 

years at CSI will 

score at least 10% 

above BPS 

students in the 

same grades 3 

through 6 on NYS 

ELA assessments. 

NYS Grade 3-6 ELA 

assessments. 
Unable to Assess 

This data is not 

available at this time. 

ELA Growth 

Measure 

Students in grades 

K-2 increased by 4.5 

reading levels from 

Academic Goal 3 

Students in grades 

kindergarten through 

second will 

demonstrate 

attainment of 

Renaissance Star 

Reading and CBM 

assessments, Open 

Court unit 

Met 

the fall 2022 

baseline, and 

exceeded the goal 

of 3 reading levels 

by 1.5. 

age/grade level 

proficiency 

benchmarks on the 

appropriate grade-

level assessments. 

assessments. 
Scale scores 

increased by 97.5 

points between 

September 2022 

and June 2023. 

Academic Goal 4 

ELA Growth 

Measure 

All grade levels will 

demonstrate an 

increase of three (3) 

or more reading 

levels between 

September and 

June on the Fountas 

and Pinnell reading 

assessment 

Fountas and Pinnell 

Reading assessment 
Met 

Grade 1: 4.3 

Grade 2: 5.5 

Grade 3: 4.2 

Grade 4: 4.2 

Grade 5: 3.0 

Grade 6: 4.4 

16 / 53 



  

 

 

  

    

 

 

 

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

  

   

  

 

 

 

  

  

 

  

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

 

 

 

   

    

  

   

 

  

 

 

   

  

 

  

  

  

 

  

 

 

  

   

  

  

ELA Growth 

Academic Goal 5 

Measure 

80% of students will 

meet their end of the 

year targets as 

generated by Star 

Reading 

assessments. 

Renaissance Star 

Assessments 
Met 

Grade 1: 80% 

Grade 2: 91% 

Grade 3: 82% 

Grade 4: 79.9% 

Grade 5: 83% 

Grade 6: 82% 

Academic Goal 6 

All grade levels will 

meet or exceed end 

of year growth 

targets generated by 

Star Reading 

assessments. 

Renaissance Star 

Assessments 
Met 

The Student Growth 

Percentile (SGP) at 

CSI was 59% 

compared to the 

national average of 

49%. 

Academic Goal 7 ELA Growth 

Measure 

The percentage of 

students meeting or 

exceeding grade-

level standards will 

increase by 15% 

annually as 

measured by the 

Star Reading 

assessment. 

Renaissance Star 

Assessments 

Not Met CSI met goals for 

student growth; 

however, the 

increase in 

proficiency from 

2022 to 2023 fell 

short of 15%. It is 

important to note 

that CSI, like all 

other schools across 

the nation, initially 

saw tremendous 

gains in proficiency 

immediately following 

the return to school 

after the pandemic. 

The 2022-2023 

school year showed 

more typical annual 

growth; however, the 

student growth 

percentile for CSI 

exceeded the 

national percentage. 

In 2021-2022, CSI 

transitioned to a co-

teaching model, and 

the school continues 
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to perfect the use of 

this model to close 

gaps in learning and 

more effectively use 

data to differentiate 

instruction. 

In the summer of 

2023, teams of 

teachers, 

administrators, and 

coaches from 

BOCES conducted a 

thorough review of 

the curriculum using 

line-item analysis 

from the 2023 NYS 

assessments, Star 

assessments, and 

Unit assessments. 

This process allowed 

CSI to identify and 

close gaps in the 

curriculum. 

Following the 

leadership model of 

many other 

successful charter 

schools, CSI is 

splitting the position 

of associate principal 

into two positions: 

Associate Principal 

for Culture and 

Student Affairs, with 

laser-like focus on 

school culture, 

climate, and 

grooming students 

for success (10-

month position); and 

Associate Principal 

for Academics, with 

laser-like focus on 

academics and 
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instruction, data 

trends, and stronger 

instructional 

accountability (12-

month position). This 

new leadership 

model will allow CSI 

to be less 

dependent on 

outside coaches and 

consultants from 

BOCES and 

strengthen our own 

internal capacity. 

The person in this 

new position will 

engage teachers in 

discussions on data 

on a regular basis 

and allow CSI to use 

data trends to better 

identify gaps in 

instruction. 

Academic Goal 8 Math Absolute 

Measure 

Each year, 50% of 

students enrolled for 

at least two years at 

CSI will score at a 

Level 3 on the NYS 

Math assessments. 

NYS Grade 3-6 Math 

assessments. 

Not Met The 2021-2022 

state assessment 

data was used 

as a post-pandemic 

baseline, after two 

years of no or 

unreliable data. 

In an Action Plan 

submitted to the 

NYS Education 

Department, CSI 

set a goal for the 

2022-2023 school 

year stating that the 

percentage of 

students scoring at 

or above 

proficiency on the 

2022-2023 NYS 

assessments would 

increase by 10% 
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from the 2021-2022 

baseline. 

Cohort increase in 

proficiency in Math 

from 2022 to 2023 

was 13.3%. 

Grade 3 to 4 15% 

Grade 4 to 5 15% 

Grade 5 to 6 10%. 

In 2021-2022, CSI 

transitioned to a co-

teaching model, and 

the school continues 

to perfect the use of 

this model to close 

gaps in learning and 

more effectively use 

data to differentiate 

instruction. 

In the summer of 

2023, teams of 

teachers, 

administrators, and 

coaches from 

BOCES conducted a 

thorough review of 

the curriculum using 

line-item analysis 

from the 2023 NYS 

assessments and 

other sources of 

data. This process 

allowed CSI to 

identify and close 

gaps in the 

curriculum. 

Following the 

leadership model of 

many other 

successful charter 

schools, CSI is 
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splitting the position 

of associate principal 

into two positions: 

Associate Principal 

for Culture and 

Student Affairs, with 

laser-like focus on 

school culture, 

climate, and 

grooming students 

for success (10-

month position); and 

Associate Principal 

for Academics, with 

laser-like focus on 

academics and 

instruction, data 

trends, and stronger 

instructional 

accountability (12-

month position). This 

new leadership 

model will allow CSI 

to be less 

dependent on 

outside coaches and 

consultants from 

BOCES and 

strengthen our own 

internal capacity. 

The person in this 

new position will 

engage teachers in 

discussions on data 

on a regular basis 

and allow CSI to use 

data trends to better 

identify gaps in 

instruction more 

frequently. 

Academic Goal 9 Math Comparative 

Measure 

NYS Grade 3-6 Math 

assessments. 

Unable to Assess This data is not 

available at this time. 
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Each year, the 

percentage of 

students enrolled for 

at least two years at 

CSI will score at 

least 10% above 

BPS students in the 

same grades 3 

through 6 on NYS 

Math assessments. 

Academic Goal 10 

Math Growth 

Measure 

Students in grades 

kindergarten through 

second will 

demonstrate 

attainment of 

age/grade level 

proficiency 

benchmarks on the 

appropriate grade 

level assessments. 

Renaissance Star 

CBM assessments, 

Math Expressions 

Court assessments. 

Met 

Scale scores 

increased by 93 

points between 

September 2022 

and June 2023. 

Student growth 

percentile in math at 

CSI was 11% higher 

than the national 

average from 

September 2022 to 

June 2023. 

2. Do have more academic goals to add? 

Yes 
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2022-2023 Progress Toward Attainment of Academic Goals 

Academic Student Measure Used to Goal - Met, Not Met 2019-2020 progress 

Performance Goal Evaluate Progress 

Toward Attainment of 

Goal 

or Unable to Assess toward attainment of 

goal Met/Not 

Met/Unable to 

Assess During Due 

to Closure 

Math Growth 

Academic Goal 11 

Measure 

80% of students will 

meet their end of the 

year targets 

generated by the 

Star Math 

assessments. 

Renaissance Star 

Math assessments 
Met 

Grade 1: 82% 

Grade 2: 94% 

Grade 3: 80% 

Grade 4: 81% 

Grade 5: 82% 

Grade 6: 81% 

Academic Goal 12 

Math Growth 

Measure 

All grade levels will 

meet or exceed end 

of the year targets 

generated by Star 

Math assessments. 

Renaissance Star 

Math assessments 
Met 

The Student Growth 

Percentile (SGP) at 

CSI was 60% 

compared to the 

national average of 

49% (11% higher). 

Academic Goal 13 The percentage of 

students meeting or 

exceeding grade-

level standards will 

increase by 15% 

annually as 

measured by Star 

Math assessments. 

Renaissance Star 

Math assessments 

Not Met CSI met goals for 

student growth; 

however, the 

increase in 

proficiency from 

2022 to 2023 fell 

short of 15%. It is 

important to note 

that CSI, like all 

other schools across 

the nation, initially 

saw tremendous 

gains in proficiency 

immediately following 

the return to school 

after the pandemic. 

The 2022-2023 
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school year showed 

more typical annual 

growth; however, the 

student growth 

percentile at CSI 

exceeded the 

national growth 

percentile. 

In 2021-2022, CSI 

transitioned to a co-

teaching model, and 

the school continues 

to perfect the use of 

this model to close 

gaps in learning and 

more effectively use 

data to differentiate 

instruction. 

In the summer of 

2023, teams of 

teachers, 

administrators, and 

coaches from 

BOCES conducted a 

thorough review of 

the curriculum using 

line-item analysis 

from the 2023 NYS 

assessments, Star 

assessments, and 

Unit assessments. 

This process allowed 

CSI to identify and 

close gaps in the 

curriculum. 

Following the 

leadership model of 

many other 

successful charter 

schools, CSI is 

splitting the position 

of associate principal 

into two positions: 
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Associate Principal 

for Culture and 

Student Affairs, with 

laser-like focus on 

school culture, 

climate, and 

grooming students 

for success (10-

month position); and 

Associate Principal 

for Academics, with 

laser-like focus on 

academics and 

instruction, data 

trends, and stronger 

instructional 

accountability (12-

month position). This 

new leadership 

model will allow CSI 

to be less 

dependent on 

outside coaches and 

consultants from 

BOCES and 

strengthen our own 

internal capacity. 

The person in this 

new position will 

engage teachers in 

discussions on data 

on a regular basis 

and allow CSI to use 

data trends to better 

identify gaps in 

instruction more 

frequently. 

Academic Goal 14 Science Absolute 

Measurement 

50% of all students 

enrolled for at least 

two years at CSI will 

perform at or above 

Level 3 on the NYS 

NYS Science 

assessment 

Unable to Assess The NYS Science 

assessment was not 

administered in 

2023. 
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Science 

assessment. 

Academic Goal 15 

Science 

Comparative 

Measure 

The percent of all 

students in at least 

their second year at 

CSI will exceed by 

10% BPS student 

performance. 

NYS Science 

assessment 
Unable to Assess 

The NYS Science 

assessment was not 

administered in 

2023. 

Academic Goal 16 

Academic Goal 17 

Academic Goal 18 

Academic Goal 19 

Academic Goal 20 

3. Do have more academic goals to add? 

No 

4. ORGANIZATION GOALS 

For the 2022-2023 school year, any organization goals that 
cannot be evaluated due to school closure resulting in a lack 
of data and changes in testing, surveying, and other usual 
practices should be reported as “N/A”. 
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2022-2023 Progress Toward Attainment of Organization Goals 

Organizational Goal Measure Used to 

Evaluate Progress 

Goal - Met, Not Met, 

or Unable to Assess 

If not met, describe 

efforts the school will 

take to meet goal. If 

unable to assess 

goal, type N/A for 

Not Applicable 

Org Goal 1 

Org Goal 2 

Org Goal 3 

Org Goal 4 

Org Goal 5 

Org Goal 6 

Org Goal 7 

Org Goal 8 

Org Goal 9 

Org Goal 10 

Org Goal 11 

Org Goal 12 

Org Goal 13 

Org Goal 14 

Org Goal 15 

Org Goal 16 

Org Goal 17 

Org Goal 18 

Org Goal 19 

Org Goal 20 
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5. Do have more organizational goals to add? 

No 

6. FINANCIAL GOALS 

2022-2023 Progress Toward Attainment of Financial Goals 

Financial Goals Measure Used to 

Evaluate Progress 

Goal - Met, Not Met, 

or Partially Met 

If not met, describe 

efforts the school will 

take to meet goal. 

Financial Goal 1 

Financial Goal 2 

Financial Goal 3 

Financial Goal 4 

Financial Goal 5 

7. Do have more financial goals to add? 

(No response) 

2021-2022 Progress Toward Attainment of Financial Goals 

Financial Goals Measure Used to 

Evaluate Progress 

Goal - Met, Not Met, 

or Partially Met 

If not met, describe 

efforts the school will 

take to meet goal. 

Financial Goal 6 

Financial Goal 7 

Financial Goal 8 

Financial Goal 9 

Financial Goal 10 

Thank you. 
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Entry 3 Accountability Plan Progress Reports 

Incomplete - Hidden from applicant 

Instructions 
SUNY-Authorized Charter Schools ONLY- Complete Template and Upload to Epicenter 

SUNY-authorized charter schools must download an Accountability Plan Progress Report template at Accountability 
Plan Progress Report. After completing, SUNY-authorized charter schools must upload the document into the Annual 
Report Portal, and into the SUNY Epicenter document management system by September 15, 2023. 

PLEASE NOTE: This is a required task, and it is marked optional for administrative purposes only. 

Entry 4 - Audited Financial Statements 

Completed - Oct 27 2023 

Required of ALL Charter Schools 

ALL SUNY-authorized charter schools must upload the financial statements and related documents in PDF format 
into the Annual Report Portal and into the SUNY Epicenter document management system no later than November 
1, 2023. SUNY-authorized charter schools are asked to ensure that security features such as password protection 
are turned off. 

ALL Regents, NYCDOE, and Buffalo BOE-authorized charter schools must upload final, audited financial 
statements to the Annual Report Portal no later than November 1, 2023. Upload the independent auditor’s report, 
any advisory and/or management letter, and the internal controls report as one submission, combined into a PDF file, 
ensuring that security features such as password protections are removed from all school uploaded documents. 

PLEASE NOTE: This task appears as visible and optional task in the online portal until August 1 2023 but will 
be identified as a required task thereafter and due on November 1, 2023. This is a required task, and it is 
marked optional for administrative purposes only. 

2023 Financial Statements - FINAL 

Filename: 2023_Financial_Statements_-_FINAL.pdf Size: 538.0 kB 

Entry 4a – Audited Financial Report Template (SUNY) 
Incomplete - Hidden from applicant 

Instructions - SUNY-Authorized Charter Schools ONLY 

SUNY-authorized schools must download the Excel spreadsheet entitled “Audited Financial Statement Template” at 
http://www.newyorkcharters.org/fiscal/. After completing, schools must upload the document into the Annual Report 
Portal and into the SUNY Epicenter document management system no later than November 1, 2023. 

PLEASE NOTE: This is a required task, and it is marked optional for administrative purposes only. 

Entry 4b – Audited Financial Report Template (BOR/NYC/BOE) 
Completed - Oct 27 2023 

Instructions - Regents-Authorized Charter Schools ONLY 

Regents-authorized schools must download and complete the Excel spreadsheet entitled “Audited Financial Report 
Template” from the online portal or the 2022-2023 Annual Reports webpage. Upload the completed file in Excel 
format and submit by November 1, 2023. 

Please complete one spreadsheet at the Education Corporation level and submit the same spreadsheet for 
each of the schools. 
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EDUCATION CORPORATIONS WITH MORE THAN ONE SCHOOL SHOULD COMPLETE THE EXCEL 
SPREADSHEET FOR THE EDUCATION CORPORATION AS A WHOLE, NOT FOR THE INDIVIDUAL SCHOOLS. 
PLEASE SUBMIT THE SAME EXCEL SPREADSHEET FOR EACH OF THE SCHOOLS. 

PLEASE NOTE: This is a required task, and it is marked optional for administrative purposes only. 

CSIauditedfinancialreporttemplate-nysed 063023 

Filename: CSIauditedfinancialreporttemplate_CHH5xSu.xlsx Size: 76.6 kB 

Entry 4c – Additional Financial Documents 

Completed - Oct 27 2023 

Regents, NYCDOE and Buffalo BOE authorized schools must upload financial documents and submit by 
November 1, 2023. The items listed below should be uploaded, with an explanation if not applicable or available. 
For example, a “federal Single Audit was not required because the school did not expend federal funds of more than 
the $750,000 Threshold.” 

1. Advisory and/or Management letter 
2. Federal Single Audit 
3. Agreed-Upon Procedure Report 
4. Evidence of Required Escrow Account for each school[1] 
5. Corrective Action Plan for Audit Findings and Management Letter Recommendations 

[1] Note: For BOR schools chartered or renewed after the 2017-2018 school year, the escrow account per school is 
$100,000. 

PLEASE NOTE: This is a required task, and it is marked optional for administrative purposes only. 

2023 Management Letter - FINAL 

Filename: 2023_Management_Letter_-_FINAL.pdf Size: 228.2 kB 

CSI M&T Dissolution Bank Stmt - 8821 - 2023 

Filename: CSI_MT_Dissolution_Bank_Stmt_-_882_WScMpqJ.pdf Size: 99.6 kB 

CSI NYSED Annual Report 11 

Filename: CSI_NYSED_Annual_Report_11.1.2023__UwGp6EM.pdf Size: 147.0 kB 

Entry 4d - Financial Contact Information 

Completed - Jul 24 2023 

Regents, NYCDOE, and Buffalo BOE authorized schools should enter financial contact information directly into the 
form within the portal by November 1, 2023. 

Form for "Financial Contact Information" 
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1. School Based Fiscal Contact Information 

School Based Fiscal School Based Fiscal School Based Fiscal 

Contact Name Contact Email Contact Phone 

Lynn Monin lmonin@csicharter.org 716-833-3250 

2. Audit Firm Contact Information 

School Audit Contact 

Name 

School Audit Contact 

Email 

School Audit Contact 

Phone 

Years Working With 

This Audit Firm 

Peter DeSabio, 

Lumsden and 

McCormick 

PDeSabio@lumsden 

cpa.com 
716-856-3300 8 

3. If applicable, please provide contact information for the school's outsourced financial services firm. 

Firm Name Contact Mailing Email Phone Years With 

Person Address Firm 

Kirisits and 

Associates 

Karen 

Burhans 

1231 

Delaware 

Ave., Buffalo, 

NY, 14209 

KarenB@kirisi 

tscpa.com 
716-881-0089 8 

Entry 5 – Fiscal Year 2023-2024 Budget 
Completed - Oct 27 2023 

SUNY-authorized charter schools should download the 2023-2024 Budget and Quarterly Report Template and the 
2023-2024 Budget Narrative Questionnaire from the SUNY website and upload the completed templates into the 
Annual Report Portal and into the Epicenter document management system. Due November 1, 2023. 

Regents, NYCDOE, and Buffalo BOE authorized charter schools should upload a copy of the school’s FY22 
Budget using the 2023-2024 Budget Template into the Annual Report Portal or from the Annual Report website. Due 
November 1, 2023. 

The Assumptions column should be completed for all revenue and expense items unless the item is self-explanatory. 
Where applicable, reference the page number or section in the application narrative that indicates the assumption 
being made. For instance, student enrollment would reference the applicable page number in Section I, C of the 
application narrative. 

PLEASE NOTE: This is a required task, and it is marked optional for administrative purposes only. 

Charter School of Inquiry 2023-2024 budget 

Filename: Charter_School_of_Inquiry_2023-20_1JbGBJi.xlsx Size: 36.6 kB 

Entry 6 – Board of Trustees Disclosure of Financial Interest Form 
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Completed - Jul 31 2023 

Required of ALL Charter Schools 

Each member of the charter school’s Board of Trustees who served on a charter school education corporation 
governing one or more charter schools for any period during the 2022-2023 school year must complete and sign a 
Trustee Disclosure of Financial Interest Form is due on August 1, 2023. Acceptable signature formats include: 

Digitally certified PDF signature (i.e., DocuSign) 
Manual signature (1. download to print, 2. manually sign, 3. scan signed document to PDF, and 4. upload 
into portal) 

All completed forms must be collected and uploaded in .PDF format for each individual member. The education 
corporation is responsible for ensuring that each member who served on the board during the 2022-2023 
school year completes the form. 

Charter schools must submit the latest version of the form. Forms completed from past years will not be accepted. 

Trustees serving on an education corporation that governs more than one school are not required to complete a 
separate disclosure for each school governed by the education corporation. In the Trustee Disclosure of Financial 
Interest Form, trustees must disclose information relevant to any of the schools served by the governing education 
corporation. 

BOT Financial Disclosure forms 7 

Filename: BOT_Financial_Disclosure_forms_7.2023.pdf Size: 645.2 kB 

Entry 7 BOT Membership Table 

Completed - Jul 31 2023 

Instructions 

Required of ALL charter schools 
ALL charter schools or education corporations governing multiple schools must complete the Board of Trustees 
Membership Table within the online portal. Please be sure to include and identify parents who are members of the 
Board of Trustees and indicate whether parents are voting or non-voting members. 

Entry 7 BOT Table 

1. SUNY-AUTHORIZED charter schools are required to provide information for VOTING Trustees only. 

2. REGENTS, NYCDOE, and BUFFALO BOE-AUTHORIZED charter schools are required to provide information 

for all --VOTING and NON-VOTING-- trustees. 
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Authorizer: 

Who is the authorizer of your charter school? 

Board of Regents 
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1. 2022-2023 Board Member Information (Enter info for each BOT member) 

Position 

on the 

Board 

Committe 

e 

Affiliation 

s 

Voting 

Member 

Per By-

Laws 

(Y/N) 

Number 

of 

Complet 

ed Terms 

Served 

Start 

Date of 

Current 

Term 

(MM/DD/ 

YYYY) 

End 

Date of 

Current 

Term 

(MM/DD/ 

YYYY) 

Board 

Meetings 

Attended 

During 

2022-

2023 

Chair 

Governa 

nce, 

Finance, 

Academi 

c, 

Executiv 

e 

Yes 1 
07/6/202 

1 

07/07/20 

24 
12 

Vice 

Chair 

Academi 

c, 

Governa 

nce, 

Executiv 

e 

Yes 1 
07/06/20 

22 

07/08/20 

25 
11 

Secretar 

y 

Academi 

c, 

Executiv 

e 

Yes 3 
07/12/20 

23 

07/07/20 

26 
8 

Treasure 

r 

Finance, 

Executiv 

e 

Yes 2 
07/12/20 

23 

07/07/20 

26 
9 

Trustee/ 

Member 

Governa 

nce, 

Executiv 

e 

Yes 2 
07/12/20 

23 

07/07/20 

26 
12 

Parent 

Rep 

Finance, 

Academi 

c 

Yes 2 
07/12/20 

23 

07/11/20 

24 
6 

Trustee/ 

Member 

Finance Yes 07/12/20 

23 

07/07/20 

26 

6 

  

          

 

 

 

  

Trustee 

Name 

Valerie 
1 

Nolan 

Eric 
2 

Campbell 

Peter 
3 

Dow 

Richard 
4 

Haydon 

Janet 
5 

Peters 

Nichelle 
6 

Gray 

7 Delano 

Dowell 

Trustee 

Email 

Address 
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11 

9 

Academi 

Ebony Trustee/ c, 07/06/20 07/08/20 
8 Yes 

Eison Member Governa 22 25 

nce 

1a. Are there more than 9 members of the Board of Trustees? 

No 

2. INFORMATION ABOUT MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

1. SUNY-AUTHORIZED charter schools provide response relative to VOTING Trustees only. 

2. REGENTS, NYCDOE, and BUFFALO BOE-AUTHORIZED charter schools provide a response relative to all 

trustees. 

a. Total Number of BOT Members on June 30, 2023 

b.Total Number of Members Added During 2022-2023 

c. Total Number of Members who Departed during 2022-

2023 

d.Total Number of members, as set in Bylaws, 

Resolution or Minutes 

8 

2 

2 

9 

3. Number of Board meetings held during 2022-2023 
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12 

8 

2 

2 

9 

0 

4. Number of Board meetings scheduled for 2023-2024 

Total number of Voting Members on June 30, 2023: 

Total number of Voting Members added during the 2022-2023 school year: 

Total number of Voting Members who departed during the 2022-2023 school year: 

Total Maximum Number of Voting members in 2022-2023, as set by the board in bylaws, resolution, or minutes: 

Total number of Non-Voting Members on June 30, 2023: 

Total number of Non-Voting Members added during the 2022-2023 school year: 

36 / 53 
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0 

9 

2 

Total number of Non-Voting Members who departed during the 2022-2023 school year: 

Total Maximum Number of Non-Voting members in 2022-2023, as set by the board in bylaws, resolution or 

minutes: 

Board members attending 8 or fewer meetings during 2022-2023 

Thank you. 

Entry 8 Board Meeting Minutes 

Completed - Jul 24 2023 

Instructions - Required of Regents, NYCDOE, and Buffalo BOE Authorized Schools ONLY 

Schools must upload a complete set of monthly board meeting minutes (July 2022-June 2023), which should match 
the number of meetings held during the 2022-2023 school year, as indicated in the above table. The minutes 
provided must be the final version approved by the school’s Board of Trustees and may be uploaded individually or 
as one single combined file. Board meeting minutes must be submitted by August 1, 2023. 

BOT Minutes 2022-2023 

Filename: BOT_Minutes_2022-2023.pdf Size: 13.7 MB 

Entry 9 Enrollment & Retention 

Completed - Jul 31 2023 

Instructions for submitting Enrollment and Retention Efforts 

Required of ALL Charter Schools 

Describe the good faith efforts the charter school has made in 2022-2023 toward meeting targets to attract and 
retain the enrollment of Students with Disabilities (SWDs), English Language Learners (ELLs), and students who are 
economically disadvantaged. In addition, describe the school’s plans for meeting or making progress toward meeting 
its enrollment and retention targets in 2023-2024. 

*SUNY-authorized charter schools 

The education corporation must include a plan for the charter to meet or exceed enrollment and retention targets 
established by the SUNY Trustees for students with disabilities, ELLs, and students who are eligible to participate in 
the FRPL program. See the enrollment and retention target calculator to find specific targets. 
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Entry 9 Enrollment and Retention of Special Populations 
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Good Faith Efforts to Meet Recruitment Targets (Attract) 

  

       

     

    

    

 

 

   

  

   

   

 

  

   

 

    

   

   

    

    

   

   

   

 

  

  

    

   

  

     

  

   

     

 

    

   

   

     

    

    

   

  

 

      

     

   

   

  

   

    

     

   

  

   

  

  

    

   

   

   

Economically Disadvantaged 

Describe Recruitment Efforts in 

2022-2023 

The Charter School of Inquiry has 

been successful in attracting and 

retaining economically 

disadvantaged students. 

The percentage of economically 

disadvantaged students at CSI 

exceeds the percentage of ED 

students in the Buffalo Public 

School District. 

CSI recruits from this demographic 

by being visibly active in the 

community. This includes 

participation in local health fairs, 

recruitment fairs, and backpack-

giveaways. This past year CSI 

faculty and staff assisted a local 

church with blizzard relief efforts by 

distributing and delivering bags of 

groceries. 

CSI also recruits at pre-school 

centers that serve high percentages 

of economically disadvantaged 

students, such as Holy Cross and 

Bethel Head Start. 

CSI targets social media ads to this 

demographic, as well as running ads 

in community newspapers such as 

the Challenger and on local radio 

stations such as WBLK. Advertising 

focuses on free transportation, free 

breakfast and lunch, and a free 

extended day program. 

CSI joined SchoolMinit to simplify 

the application process for all 

families and to expand school 

Describe Recruitment Plans in 2023-

2024 

In the 2023-2024 school year, CSI 

will provide free uniforms and school 

supplies for all students to make a 

charter school education more 

accessible to economically 

disadvantaged families. 

CSI will continue to be a visible 

presence on the Eastside of Buffalo 

by collaborating with our community 

partners, opening our facility to 

neighborhood organizations, and 

participating in local events. 

CSI intends to retain the important 

role of Director of Recruitment and 

Family Support to facilitate outreach 

to subgroups by meeting personally 

with directors of Head Start 

programs and providing in-person 

tours of the school. 

CSI intends to continue to recruit 

through SchoolMint to simplify the 

application process for all families 

and expand parents’ choice. 
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English Language Learners 

choice for all families. 

This is the fastest growing subgroup 

at CSI, increasing the percentage of 

English Language Learners each 

year, despite students moving on to 

middle school after our terminal year 

of sixth grade. In the 2022-2023 

school year, 10% of the students at 

CSI were English Language 

Learners, with 63% speaking 

Bengali, 32% Spanish, and 8% 

Swahili. 

CSI retained our multi-lingual 

Bengali recruiter to reach out to 

families in their home languages. 

The recruiter is actively involved in 

the Bengali community and recruits 

at community centers and special 

events. 

Recruitment materials are 

disseminated in Spanish and 

Bengali, and tours of the school are 

provided to families in their home 

language. Translators are available 

to assist families with the application 

and registration process, as well as 

securing services such as 

transportation or a referral to the 

CSE (if needed). 

CSI continues a weighted lottery to 

give preference to English 

Language Learners, which has 

contributed to the increase in this 

demographic. 

Reports are made monthly to the 

board of trustees on recruitment and 

retention efforts for this subgroup. 

CSI has recently offered and will 

continue to offer our support and 

assistance to refugee agencies in 

Buffalo that are currently 

experiencing an influx of asylum 

seekers from New York City. CSI has 

offered to send our own translators 

and school personnel to shelters to 

assist families with applications for 

school and transportation. CSI has 

been in direct contact with Jericho 

Road Refugee Services, 

International Institute of Buffalo, 

Journey’s End Refugee Services, 

Jewish Family Services, and Catholic 

Charities Refugee Services. CSI is 

providing free school supplies and 

school uniforms to all refugee 

children who enroll in our school. 

CSI will continue to retain multi-

lingual recruiters to reach out to 

families in their home language. 

CSI will use social media to reach 

out to families in this demographic. 

CSI will continue to use the 

weighted lottery system to give 

preference to this subgroup. 

Recruitment materials will be 

disseminated in Spanish and 

Bengali. 

Tours of the school will be provided 

to families in their home language. 

Translators will assist families with 

the application and enrollment 

process. 

40 / 53 



  

 

   

    

     

   

    

   

 

    

    

    

    

  

   

 

    

    

  

 

    

  

    

 

  

    

    

    

  

 

    

  

    

      

     

      

    

   

    

    

     

    

  

   

   

   

 

    

    

 

    

   

   

   

  

     

    

    

     

    

   

     

     

    

 

     

     

  

 

Students with Disabilities 

CSI continues to invest resources in 

our special education program to 

maintain a program that best meets 

the needs of all learners. 

The transition to the co-teaching 

model of delivering special 

education services is widely 

communicated to the general public 

and through the Buffalo CSE. 

CSI instituted a weighted lottery 

system that gives preference to this 

subgroup, and this is widely 

communicated in the application 

process through SchoolMint. 

CSI recruits at Head Start Programs 

that specialize in serving students 

with disabilities, mostly notably Holy 

Cross Head Start. 

Our full-time Director of Special 

Education is available twelve 

months a year to assist parents of 

prospective students in 

understanding their rights, 

explaining how to navigate the 

referral process, and what services 

will most benefit their children. 

Our success with students with 

disabilities is becoming known 

throughout the community, which is 

contributing to parents transferring 

their children with disabilities to CSI. 

At the end of the 2022-2023 school 

year, 26% of the students in our 

terminal year of sixth grade had one 

or more disabilities and were to 

promoted to other schools for 

seventh grade. Despite having such 

a high percentage of students 

leaving CSI for middle school, we 

still anticipate increasing the number 

students with disabilities in the 

2023-2024 school year, which 

shows that our recruitment efforts 

and weighted lottery are meeting 

with results. 

CSI will continue the weighted 

preference for this subgroup in our 

annual admissions lottery. 

CSI will continue to reference 

special education services in our 

recruitment materials and recruit at 

pre-schools that specialize in serving 

this population of students. 

CSI will continue to provide parents 

with information on their rights when 

going through the referral process 

and understanding the role of the 

CSE. When necessary, CSI will 

continue to inform parents of 

children with a disability on how to 

engage the support of a parent 

advocate when going through the 

referral process. 

CSI will continue to work with the 

BPS CSE to ensure that progress 

monitoring instruments meet the 

requirements for referral. 
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Economically Disadvantaged 

Describe Retention Efforts in 2022-

2023 

As noted above, CSI has been 

successful in attracting and retaining 

economically disadvantaged 

students and exceeds the 

percentage of economically 

disadvantaged students in BPS. 

CSI continued its innovative 

partnership with the Afro American 

Police Association to expand 

mentoring opportunities for students 

and facilitate speakers from the 

wider community to educate 

students on social and civic issues. 

CSI continued to have a specialist 

from Erie 1 BOCES provide 

professional development and 

coaching on creating trauma-

sensitive classrooms, crisis 

intervention, and effects of poverty. 

This specialist also worked with 

individual classroom teams to 

address specific trauma-related 

behaviors exhibited by some of their 

students. 

CSI provided free uniforms and 

school supplies when necessary. 

CSI provided all families with a free 

extended day program that included 

a wide variety of activities and hot 

meals at no cost to families. 

CSI continued its one-to-one 

technology initiative, ensuring at 

every student had access to a 

Chromebook for instructional 

purposes at school and at home. 

Describe Retention Plans in 2023-

2024 

In the 2023-2024 school year, CSI 

will provide all students with free 

uniforms and free school supplies to 

make a charter school education 

more accessible to all families. 

To better meet the social-emotional 

and academic needs of students 

(particularly transfer students new to 

CSI), the Board of Trustees will add 

a new leadership position to fill the 

gap left when the director of student 

support services position was 

eliminated. 

CSI will continue its one-to-one 

technology initiative to ensure that 

all students have access to a 

Chromebook for instructional 

purposes at school and at home. 

CSI will continue to offer a free 

extended day program to all 

students that will include a hot meal. 

CSI will expand its partnership with 

the Afro American Police Association 

to facilitate speakers from the wider 

community to educate parents on 

social and civic issues and how to 

access community resources. 

CSI will continue the co-teaching 

model with two certified teachers 

and one teaching assistant in every 

classroom to better meet the needs 

of all learners. 

CSI will continue to provide free field 

trips and free extra-curricular 
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English Language Learners 

CSI continued the co-teaching 

model with two certified teachers 

and one teaching assistant in every 

classroom to better meet the needs 

of all learners. 

During the summer of 2022, CSI 

offered a summer enrichment 

program at no cost to families. 

English language learners is the 

fastest growing subgroup at CSI, 

having gone from no ELL students 

in the years 2015-2018, to 27 

students in 2022-2023. 

The largest percentage of ELL 

students at CSI are from 

Bangladesh, and their home 

language is Bengali. CSI has made 

outstanding efforts to create a 

welcoming community for these 

students and their families by 

creating culturally sensitive 

classrooms, proving training to all 

staff members on Bengali culture, 

designing a prayer space to 

accommodate parents’ request for 

religious observance during the 

school day, and ensuring that the 

cafeteria offers lunches that meet 

the religious dietary requirements of 

all students. 

CSI retained a full-time staff member 

to serve as a liaison between the 

school and Bengali families who is 

fluent in Bangali, Urdu, Hindi, and 

Arabic. 

CSI hired Spanish speaking staff 

members to provide internal 

translation services as necessary. 

activities to all students to ensure 

that students will fully benefit from 

the educational program regardless 

of economic status. 

CSI will continue to utilize the 

services of Erie 1 BOCES to mentor 

and train teachers on creating 

trauma-sensitive classrooms, crisis 

intervention, and the social-

emotional effects of poverty. 

CSI will retain a full-time staff 

member to serve as a liaison 

between the school and Bengali 

families who is fluent in Bangali, 

Urdu, Hindi, and Arabic. 

CSI will retain staff members to 

provide internal translation services 

as necessary. 

CSI will continue to provide native 

language support to families when 

applying to the school, touring the 

school, and/or registering their 

children. 

CSI will continue to recognize 

Bengali holidays and festivals. 

CSI will continue to include Bengali 

culture into the curriculum, including 

music and the visual arts. 

CSI will continue its Bengali culture 

day where Bengali families are able 

to share their culture and food with 

each other and CSI staff. 

If necessary, CSI will have staff from 

the Bengali Community Center offer 

training to CSI staff members on 

Bengali customs, traditions, food, 

and music. 
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CSI provided native language 

support to families when applying to 

the school, touring the school, 

and/or registering their children. 

CSI acknowledged Bengali holidays 

and festivals, and students learned 

Bengali songs in music classes and 

were able to express their culture 

and heritage through the visual arts. 

CSI instituted an annual Bengali 

culture day where Bengali families 

were able to share their culture and 

food with each other and CSI staff. 

Staff from the Bengali Community 

Center offered training to all CSI 

staff on Bengali customs, traditions, 

food, and music. 

CSI introduced Bengali culture into 

the curriculum and gave students 

the opportunity to share their 

traditions with their classmates. 

CSI hired a Bengali teaching 

assistant for one of our kindergarten 

classrooms where 45% of the 

students spoke Bengali. 

School documents have been 

translated into Spanish and Bengali. 

The new school website has a 

translation feature. 

CSI utilized our ENL teacher as a 

resource for general education 

teachers to promote strategies to 

teach Language Arts to English 

language learners. 

CSI utilized our ENL teacher as a 

resource to assist teachers in 

creating culturally sensitive 
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CSI will retain a Bengali-speaking 

teaching assistant in kindergarten to 

facilitate communication with Bengali 

families. 

CSI will continue to utilize our ENL 

teacher as a resource for general 

education teachers to promote 

strategies to teach Language Arts to 

English language learners. 

CSI will continue to utilize our ENL 

teacher as a resource to assist 

teachers in creating culturally 

sensitive classrooms for immigrant 

and refugee students and their 

families. If necessary, CSI will 

employ the services of the 

International Institute of Buffalo. 

Teachers will be encouraged to 

send home written communications 

to families in their home language, 

including report card comments. 

CSI will maintain an ENL program 

that includes both a Language Arts 

instructional component and content 

area instructional support. 

CSI will continue to honor parents' 

request for religious 

accommodations during the school 

day by retaining a supervised prayer 

space for students. 

CSI will ensure that the cafeteria 

continues to offer food alternatives 

that meet the dietary requirements 

of all students. 



  

  

   

   

  

   

  

     

   

 

   

 

      

    

   

  

   

   

     

    

   

   

     

   

     

    

  

   

  

   

  

 

    

   

     

   

  

 

    

 

  

    

    

   

    

    

    

  

  

    

    

  

     

    

   

    

  

   

    

  

   

     

  

 

    

   

    

Students with Disabilities 

classrooms for immigrant and 

refugee students and their families. 

Teachers began to send home 

written communications to families in 

their home language, including 

report card comments. 

CSI continued to cultivate our ENL 

program that includes both a 

Language Arts instructional 

component and content area 

instructional support. 

Since CSI transitioned to a co- The Board of Trustees and the 

teaching model with one general Administration of CSI are fully 

education and one special committed to supporting the 

education teacher working transition to the co-teaching model 

collaboratively in the classroom, and with one general education teacher 

creating the availability for Resource and one special education teacher 

Room, we have been able to working collaboratively in the 

increase the amount of service classroom, which increases the 

hours making our program more number of service hours making our 

accessible to more students. program more accessible to more 

children with disabilities. 

We made changes to the Director of 

Special Education Services, making 

it a 12-month position and having 

the director oversee the delivery of 

RtI services as well as special 

education services. This change has 

created greater continuity between 

RtI services and special education 

services and has streamlined the 

referral process. 

The Director of Special Education 

was directly involved in creating the 

master schedule to best meet the 

CSI will continue to offer Resource 

Room to make our program 

accessible to more students. 

CSI will continue to provide 

professional development and 

coaching to teachers on the 

effective use of the co-teaching 

model, particularly as it relates to 

special education and students with 

disabilities. 

CSI will once again evaluate the 

needs of all learners and maximizing 

the effectiveness of early 

intervention programs. 

The Director of Special Education 

merits of outsourcing related 

services versus bringing these 

services in-house. 

The Director of Special Education 

Services works closely with general Services will continue to provide 

education teachers, intervention support to all teachers and service 
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specialists, special education providers to ensure that they are 

teachers, and related service fully knowledgeable of the needs of 

providers to ensure that they are students with disabilities. 

fully knowledgeable about the 

needs of students with disabilities. 

CSI continued its contract with 

Buffalo Hearing and Speech to 

provide all related services. 

Entry 10 – Teacher and Administrator Attrition 

Completed - Jul 24 2023 

Form for "Entry 10 – Teacher and Administrator Attrition" 
Revised to Employee Fingerprint Requirements Attestation 
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A. TEACH System – Employee Clearance 

Required of ALL Charter Schools 

Charter schools must ensure that all prospective employees[1] receive clearance through the NYSED Office of 

School Personnel Review and Accountability (OSPRA) prior to employment. This includes paraprofessionals and 

other school personnel who are provided or assigned by the district of location, or related/contracted service 

providers. After an employee has been cleared, schools are required to maintain proof of such clearance in the file 

of each employee. For the safety of all students, charter schools must take immediate steps to terminate the 

employment of individuals who have been denied clearance. Once the employees have been terminated, the school 

must terminate the request for clearance in the TEACH system. 

In the Annual Report, charter schools are asked to confirm that all employees have been cleared through the NYSED 

TEACH system; and, if denied clearance, confirm that the individual or employee has been removed from the TEACH 

system, and is not employed by the school. 

1. Emergency Conditional Clearances 

Charter schools are strongly discouraged from using the emergency conditional clearance provisions for prospective 

employees. This is because the school must request clearance through NYSED TEACH, and the school’s emergency 

conditional clearance of the employee terminates automatically once the school receives notification from NYSED 

regarding the clearance request. Status notification is provided for all prospective employees through the NYSED 

TEACH portal within 48 hours after the clearance request is submitted. Therefore, at most, a school’s emergency 

conditional clearance will be valid for only 48 hours after approval by the board. 

Schools are not permitted to renew or in any way re-establish a prospective employee’s emergency conditional 

clearance after status notification is sent by NYSED through the TEACH portal. 

Schools are asked to attest that they have reviewed and understand these requirements. More information can be 

found in the memo at NYSED CSO Employee Clearance and Fingerprint Memo 10-2019. 

[1] Employees who must be cleared include, but are not limited to, teachers, administrative staff, janitors, security 

personnel and cafeteria workers, and other staff who are present when children are in the school building. This 

includes paraprofessionals and other school personnel that are provided or assigned by the district of 

location, as well as related/contracted service providers. See NYSED memorandum dated October 1, 2019 at 

http://www.nysed.gov/common/nysed/files/programs/charter-schools/employeefingerprintoct19.pdf or visit the NYSED 

website at: http://www.highered.nysed.gov/tsei/ospra/fingerprintingcharts.html for more information regarding who 

must be fingerprinted. Also see, 8 NYCRR §87.2. 
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B. Emergency Conditional Clearances 

Emergency Conditional Clearances 

Charter schools are strongly discouraged from using the emergency conditional clearance provisions for prospective 

employees. This is because the school must request clearance through NYSED TEACH, and the school’s emergency 

conditional clearance of the employee terminates automatically once the school receives notification from NYSED 

regarding the clearance request. Status notification is provided for all prospective employees through the NYSED 

TEACH portal within 48 hours after the clearance request is submitted. Therefore, at most, a school’s emergency 

conditional clearance will be valid for only 48 hours after approval by the board. 

Schools are not permitted to renew or in any way re-establish a prospective employee’s emergency conditional 

clearance after status notification is sent by NYSED through the TEACH portal. 

Schools are asked to attest that they have reviewed and understand these requirements. More information can be 

found in the memo at NYSED CSO Employee Clearance and Fingerprint Memo 10-2019. 

Attestation 

Responses Selected: 

I hereby attest that the school has reviewed, understands, and will comply with these requirements. 

Entry 11 Percent of Uncertified Teachers 

Completed - Jul 24 2023 

Instructions 

Required of Regents, NYCDOE, and Buffalo BOE Authorized Charter Schools ONLY 

The table below reflects the information collected through the online portal for compliance with New York State 
Education Law 2854(3)(a-1) for teaching staff qualifications. Uncertified teachers are those not certified pursuant to 
the State Certification Requirements established by the NYSED Commissioner of Education. 

Enter the relevant full-time equivalent (FTE) count of teachers in each column. For example, a school with 20 full-
time teachers and 5 half-time teachers would have an FTE count of 22.5. 

Entry 11 Uncertified Teachers 

School Name: 
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Instructions for Reporting Percent of Uncertified Teachers 

Required of Regents, NYCDOE, and Buffalo BOE Authorized Charter Schools ONLY 

The table below reflects the information collected through the online portal for compliance with New York State 

Education Law 2854(3)(a-1) for teaching staff qualifications. Uncertified teachers are those not certified 

pursuant to the State Certification Requirements established by the NYSED Commissioner of Education. 

Enter the relevant full-time equivalent (FTE) count of teachers in each column. For example, a school with 20 

full-time teachers and 5 half-time teachers would have an FTE count of 22.5. 

If more than one line applies to a teacher, please include in only one FTE uncertified category. Please do not include 

paraprofessionals, such as teacher aides. 

CATEGORY A. 30% OR 5 UNCERTIFIED TEACHERS WHICHEVER IS LESS 

FTE Count 

i. FTE count of uncertified teacher with at least three 

years of elementary, middle or secondary classroom 0 

teaching experience (as of June 30, 2023) 

ii. FTE count of uncertified teachers who are tenured or 
0 

tenure track college faculty (as of June 30, 2023) 

iii. FTE count of uncertified teachers with two years of 
0 

Teach for America experience (as of June 30, 2023) 

iv. FTE count of uncertified teachers with exceptional 

business, professional, artistic, athletic, or military 0 

experience (as June 30, 2023) 

Total Category A: 5 or 30% whichever is less 0.0 
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CATEGORY B. PLUS FIVE UNCERTIFIED TEACHERS IN MATHEMATICS, SCIENCE, COMPUTER SCIENCE, 

TECHNOLOGY OR CAREER AND TECHNICAL EDUCATION. 

FTE Count 

i. Mathematics 0 

ii. Science 0 

iii. Computer Science 0 

iv. Technology 0 

v. Career and Technical Education 0 

Total Category B: not to exceed 5 0.0 

CATEGORY C: PLUS 5 ADDITIONAL UNCERTIFIED TEACHERS 

FTE Count 

i. FTE count of uncertified teacher with at least three 

years of elementary, middle or secondary classroom 0 

teaching experience (as of June 30, 2023) 

ii. FTE count of uncertified teachers who are tenured or 
0 

tenure track college faculty (as of June 30, 2023) 

iii. FTE count of uncertified teachers with two years of 
0 

Teach for America experience (as of June 30, 2023) 

iv. FTE count of uncertified teachers with exceptional 

business, professional, artistic, athletic, or military 0 

experience (as June 30, 2023) 

Total Category C: not to exceed 5 0.0 
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TOTAL FTE COUNT OF UNCERTIFIED TEACHERS (Sum of Categories A, B AND C) 

(Include teachers who do not fit in one of these categories or if did fit would exceed the numerical limits for that 

category) 

FTE Count 

Total 0 

CATEGORY D: TOTAL FTE COUNT OF UNCATEGORIZED, UNCERTIFIED TEACHERS 

(Include teachers who do not fit in one of these categories or if did fit would exceed the numerical limits for that 

category) 

FTE Count 

Total Category D 0 

CATEGORY E: TOTAL FTE COUNT OF CERTIFIED TEACHERS 

FTE Count 

Total Category E 30 

CATEGORY F: TOTAL FTE COUNT OF ALL TEACHERS 

Please do not include paraprofessionals, such as teacher aides. 

FTE Count 

Total Category F 32 

Thank you. 

Entry 12 Organization Chart 
Completed - Jul 24 2023 

Instructions 
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Required of Regents, NYCDOE, and Buffalo BOE Authorized Charter Schools ONLY 

Upload the 2022-2023 Organization Chart. The organization chart should be a graphic representation (A list will not 
be accepted.) and should include position titles and reporting (hierarchical) relationships. Employee names should 
not appear on the chart. 

Organizational Chart 2022-2023 

Filename: Organizational_Chart_2022-2023_V1oYnhi.pdf Size: 105.6 kB 

Entry 13 School Calendar 

Completed - Jul 24 2023 

Instructions for submitting School Calendar 

Required of ALL Charter Schools 

If the charter school has a tentative calendar based on available information and guidance at the time, please submit 
with the August 1, 2023 submission. Charter schools must upload a final school calendar into the portal and may do 
so at any time but no later than September 15, 2023. 

School calendars must meet the minimum instructional requirements as required of other public schools “… unless 
the school’s charter requires more instructional time than is required under the regulations.” 

Board of Regents-authorized charter schools also are required to submit school calendars that clearly indicate the 
start and end date of the instructional year AND the number of instructional hours and/or instructional days for each 
month (also used to align to schools with extended days/years referenced in their mission statements/key design 
elements), See an example of a calendar showing the requested information. Schools must use a calendar format 
and ensure there is a monthly tally of instructional days. 

PLEASE NOTE: This is a required task, and it is marked optional for administrative purposes only. 

Calendar 6-2-23 Final annual 23 

Filename: Calendar_6-2-23_Final_annual_23.24.pdf Size: 249.4 kB 

Entry 14 Staff Roster 

Completed - Jul 24 2023 

INSTRUCTIONS 

Required of Regents and NYCDOE-authorized Charter Schools ONLY 

Please click on the MS Excel Faculty/Staff Roster Template and provide the following information for ANY and ALL 
instructional and non-instructional employees (all faculty and staff employed by the school during the 2022-2023 
school year). 

Use of the 2022-2023 Annual Report Faculty/Staff Roster Template is required. Each of the data elements, with 
the exception of the Notes, are required, and use of the drop-down options, when provided, is also required. 
Reminders: Please use the Notes section provided to add any additional information as deemed necessary. Failure 

to adhere to the guidelines and validations in the Faculty/Staff Roster Template will result in a resubmission of a fully 
corrected roster. 

Here is the complete list of data elements in the roster template and an explanation of what information is required to 
correctly complete this task. 

Roster Data Elements Explanations 

Authorizer Select your school’s authorizer from the drop-down list 
NOTE: MUST BE DONE FIRST first, before completing the roster. 
School Name and Institution ID Select your school’s name from the drop-down list. 
Faculty/Staff First Name Enter the first name of the Faculty/Staff person. 
Faculty/Staff Last Name Enter the last name of the Faculty/Staff person. 
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TEACH ID 

Role in School 

CPR/AED Certification Status 

Hire Date 

Start Date 

Total Years’ Experience in this Role 

Total Years at this School 

Out-of-Certification Justification 

Subject Taught 
Notes 

Faculty and Staff Roster 22-23 

Filename: Faculty_and_Staff_Roster_22-23_maE7okR.xlsx Size: 22.7 kB 

Enter the 7 digit TEACH ID for the Faculty/Staff person. 
Select the best choice of role of the Faculty/Staff person 
from the drop-down list. 
Select the appropriate choice from the drop-down list. 
Enter the date that the Faculty/Staff person was hired. 
Enter the date that the Faculty/Staff person actually 
began employment in this school. 
Enter Total Years of Experience that the Faculty/Staff 
person has in their current role. 
Enter the Total Years that the Faculty/Staff person has 
been employed in this school. 
Select the appropriate choice from the drop-down list. 
Select the appropriate choice from the drop-down list. 
Optional 

Optional Additional Documents to Upload (BOR) 
Completed - Oct 19 2023 

2022-2023 NYS Assessment Growth Charts 

Filename: 2022-2023_NYS_Assessment_Growth_Charts.pdf Size: 85.7 kB 

Subgroup Enrollment 

Filename: Subgroup_Enrollment.pdf Size: 81.1 kB 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

The Board of Trustees 
Charter School of Inquiry 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Charter School of Inquiry (the School) as of June 30, 2023 
and 2022, and the related statements of activities, functional expenses, and cash flows for the years then ended, 
and the related notes to the financial statements. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of the School as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the changes in its net assets and cash flows for the years then 
ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
(GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be 
independent of the School, and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical 
requirements relating to our audits. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Adoption of ASU No. 2016-02 

As discussed in Note 5 to the financial statements, the School changed its method of accounting for leases of 
longer than one year, and adopted Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), effective 
July 1, 2021. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with GAAP, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, 
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the School’s ability to continue as a going concern 
for one year after the date that the financial statements are issued. 



Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a 
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a 
reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the School’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that 
raise substantial doubt about the School’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of 
time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related matters that 
we identified during the audit. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 4, 2023 on our 
consideration of the School’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with 
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant agreements, and other matters.  The purpose of that report 
is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the 
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the School’s internal control over 
financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the School’s internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance. 

October 4, 2023 
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CHARTER SCHOOL OF INQUIRY 

Balance Sheets 

June 30, 2023 2022 

Assets 
Current assets: 

Cash 

Receivables (Note 2) 
Prepaid expenses 

$ 3,767,548 
197,734 

12,477 
3,977,759 

$ 3,693,095 
687,037 

9,418 
4,389,550 

Property and equipment, net (Note 3) 384,129 383,899 

Right of use assets - leases (Note 5) 644,760 704,595 

Restricted cash 100,000 100,000 

$ 5,106,648 $ 5,578,044 

Liabilities and Net Assets 
Current liabilities: 

Current portion of lease liabilities (Note 5) 
Accounts payable 
Accrued expenses 

$ 34,734 
76,492 

641,204 
752,430 

$ 31,559 
110,076 
319,444 
461,079 

Lease liabilities (Note 5) 1,046,667 1,081,401 

Net assets: 
Without donor restrictions (Note 6) 3,307,551 4,035,564 

$ 5,106,648 $ 5,578,044 

See accompanying notes.  3 



                        

                     

                

                 

                 

                        

                        

                    

                 

                      

                 

CHARTER SCHOOL OF INQUIRY 

Statements of Activities 

For the years ended June 30, 2023 2022 

Support and revenue: 
Enrollment fees: 

Resident students 
Resident students with disabilities 

Contributions - federal awards 
Interest and other income 

Total support and revenue 

$ 3,566,259 
478,842 
411,238 

27,007 
4,483,346 

$ 3,772,026 
431,454 

1,223,408 
5,287 

5,432,175 

Expenses: 
Program expenses: 

Regular education 
Special education 
Other program 

Supporting services: 
Management and general 

Total expenses 

3,256,485 
643,707 
165,447 

1,145,720 
5,211,359 

3,102,200 
572,767 
267,523 

998,418 
4,940,908 

Change in net assets (728,013) 491,267 

Net assets - beginning 4,035,564 3,544,297 

Net assets - ending $ 3,307,551 $ 4,035,564 

See accompanying notes.  4 



              

                                                                                         

                                                                                                                     

           

                                                                

                                                                    

                                                                                                       

                                                                                                       

                                                                                        

                                                                                                       

                                                                            

                                                                        

                                                                                                       

                                                                            

                                                                                    

                                                                                                       

                                                                                                   

                                                                      

                                                                                                       

                                                                                                       

                                                                                                           

                                                                                                       

                                                                                            

                                                                                                           

                                                                            

                                                

                                                                      

CHARTER SCHOOL OF INQUIRY 

Statement of Functional Expenses 

For the year ended June 30, 2023 

Number 
of Regular Special Other Management 

Positions Education Education Program and General Total 
Administrative personnel 6.8 $ - $ - $ - $ 651,452 $ 651,452 
Instructional personnel 49.5 1,857,227 348,235 - - 2,205,462 
Non-instructional personnel 2.8 - - 46,141 - 46,141 
Total salaries 59.1 $ 1,857,227 $ 348,235 $ 46,141 $ 651,452 $ 2,903,055 

Salaries $ 1,857,227 $ 348,235 $ 46,141 $ 651,452 $ 2,903,055 
Employee benefits and payroll taxes 403,999 75,751 10,037 141,709 631,496 
Retirement 174,388 32,698 4,332 61,169 272,587 
Staff and student recruitment - - - 20,478 20,478 
Classroom supplies and materials 65,176 - - - 65,176 
Consultants 43,161 153,908 - - 197,069 
Field trips 29,941 - - - 29,941 
Insurance 44,079 2,755 2,755 5,510 55,099 
Interest 93,666 5,854 5,854 11,708 117,082 
Nursing services and supplies - - 48,745 - 48,745 
Office expense 23,374 1,461 1,461 2,922 29,218 
Other expenses 11,472 639 639 6,236 18,986 
Payroll processing - - - 76,327 76,327 
Professional fees - - - 123,398 123,398 
Repairs and maintenance 157,583 9,849 9,849 19,698 196,979 
Staff development 86,616 - - - 86,616 
Student activities - - 18,539 - 18,539 
Student testing and assessment 6,190 - - - 6,190 
Technology 58,704 - - - 58,704 
Telephone 4,922 308 308 614 6,152 
Transportation - - 4,538 - 4,538 
Utilities 72,812 4,551 4,551 9,102 91,016 

3,133,310 636,009 157,749 1,130,323 5,057,391 
Depreciation and amortization 123,175 7,698 7,698 15,397 153,968 

Total $ 3,256,485 $ 643,707 $ 165,447 $ 1,145,720 $ 5,211,359 

See accompanying notes.  5 



              

                                                                                        

                                                                                                               

           

                                                             

                                                                     

                                                                                                       

                                                                                                       

                                                                                   

                                                                                                       

                                                                            

                                                                       

                                                                                                       

                                                                            

                                                                            

                                                                                                       

                                                                                                 

                                                                    

                                                                                                       

                                                                                                       

                                                                                                       

                                                                                                 

                                                                                         

                                                                                                           

                                                                            

                                                 

                                                                    

CHARTER SCHOOL OF INQUIRY 

Statement of Functional Expenses 

For the year ended June 30, 2022 

Number 

Administrative personnel 
Instructional personnel 
Non-instructional personnel 
Total salaries 

of 
Positions 

6.9 
51.5 

2.1 
60.5 

Regular 
Education 

$ -

1,763,460 
-

$ 1,763,460 

Special 
Education 

$ -

317,828 
-

$ 317,828 

Other 
Program 

$ -

-

134,614 
$ 134,614 

Management 
and General 

$ 580,759 
-

-

$ 580,759 

$ 

$ 

Total 
580,759 

2,081,288 
134,614 

2,796,661 

Salaries 
Employee benefits and payroll taxes 
Retirement 
Staff and student recruitment 
Classroom supplies and materials 
Consultants 
Field trips 
Insurance 
Interest 
Nursing services and supplies 
Office expense 
Other expenses 
Payroll processing 
Professional fees 
Repairs and maintenance 
Staff development 
Student activities 
Student testing and assessment 
Technology 
Telephone 
Transportation 
Utilities 

Depreciation and amortization 

$ 1,763,460 
357,425 

81,899 
-

85,348 
113,014 

21,601 
31,611 
94,962 

-

31,369 
18,237 

-

-

130,406 
27,640 

-

18,579 
122,226 

5,374 
-

59,201 
2,962,352 

139,848 

$ 317,828 
64,419 
14,761 

-

-

143,955 
-

1,976 
5,935 

-

1,961 
1,005 

-

-

8,150 
-

-

-

-

336 
-

3,700 
564,026 

8,741 

$ 134,614 
27,284 

6,252 
-

-

-

-

1,976 
5,935 

50,991 
1,961 
1,005 

-

-

8,150 
-

11,378 
-

-

336 
5,200 
3,700 

258,782 
8,741 

$ 580,759 
117,711 

26,972 
17,022 

-

-

-

3,951 
11,870 

-

3,921 
2,010 

89,117 
103,232 

16,300 
-

-

-

-

672 
-

7,400 
980,937 

17,481 

$ 2,796,661 
566,839 
129,884 

17,022 
85,348 

256,969 
21,601 
39,514 

118,702 
50,991 
39,212 
22,257 
89,117 

103,232 
163,006 

27,640 
11,378 
18,579 

122,226 
6,718 
5,200 

74,001 
4,766,097 

174,811 

Total $ 3,102,200 $ 572,767 $ 267,523 $ 998,418 $ 4,940,908 

See accompanying notes.  6 



                        

                              

              

              

                     

                        

                          

                          

                          

                 

CHARTER SCHOOL OF INQUIRY 

Statements of Cash Flows 

For the years ended June 30, 2023 2022 

Operating activities: 
Cash received from enrollment fees 
Cash received from contributions 
Cash received from other sources 
Payments to employees for services and benefits 
Payments to vendors and suppliers 
Interest paid 

Net operating activities 

Investing activities: 
Property and equipment expenditures 

$ 3,983,097 
962,545 

27,007 
(3,485,378) 
(1,169,814) 

(117,082) 

200,375 

(94,363) 

$ 4,245,625 
804,191 

5,287 
(3,442,949) 
(1,117,436) 

(118,702) 

376,016 

(70,636) 

Financing activities: 
Principal payments on lease liabilities 

Net change in cash and restricted cash 

Cash and restricted cash - beginning 

(31,559) 

74,453 

3,793,095 

(25,672) 

279,708 

3,513,387 

Cash and restricted cash - ending $ 3,867,548 $ 3,793,095 

See accompanying notes.  7 



CHARTER SCHOOL OF INQUIRY 

Notes to Financial Statements 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: 

Organization and Purpose: 

Charter School of Inquiry (the School) operates a charter 
school in the City of Buffalo, New York (the City) authorized by 
the Board of Regents of the University of the State of New 
York. The School currently offers classes from kindergarten 
through sixth grade. The School is chartered through June 
2026 and continued operations are contingent upon approval 
of its charter renewal. 

Subsequent Events: 

Management has evaluated events and transactions for 
potential recognition or disclosure through October 4, 2023, 
the date the financial statements were available to be issued. 

Cash: 

Cash in financial institutions potentially subjects the School to 
concentrations of credit risk since it may exceed insured limits 
at various times throughout the year. The School complies 
with a requirement to hold no less than $100,000 in an 
escrow account to pay legal and audit expenses that would be 
associated with dissolution should it occur. This is included as 
restricted cash on the balance sheets as of June 30, 2023 and 
2022. 

Property and Equipment: 

Property and equipment is stated at cost net of accumulated 
depreciation.  Depreciation is provided using the straight-line 
method over estimated useful lives. Maintenance and repairs 
are charged to operations as incurred; significant 
improvements are capitalized. 

Revenue Recognition: 

Enrollment Fees 
Enrollment fees are received from the public school district 
where a student resides.  The amount received each year 
from the resident district is generally the product of the 
approved operating expense per pupil and the full time 
equivalent enrollment of the students in the School residing in 
that district. The respective districts also reimburse the 
School for special education service based on approved 
applicable rates for the services provided. Revenues are 
recognized over the period the services are provided. The 
School generally invoices the resident district bimonthly and 
payment is due in 30 days. Enrollment fees received in 
advance are deferred and recognized when earned. The 
School’s enrollment fees are received primarily from the City 
School District. 

Contributions 
Contributions are reported at fair value at the date the pledge 
or award is received. Contributions are recorded as restricted 
support if they are received with donor stipulations that limit 
their use. When a donor restriction expires, net assets with 
donor restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor 
restrictions and reported in the statement of activities as net 
assets released from restrictions. Contributions received with 
donor-imposed restrictions that are met in the same reporting 
period are shown as support without donor restrictions. 

Conditional contributions, primarily government awards, are 
recorded as revenue when the School meets requirements in 
compliance with specific agreements. Amounts received 
before the required conditions are met are reported as 
refundable advances on the accompanying balance sheets. 
These conditional contributions are subject to compliance and 
financial audits by the funding sources. Management believes 
no significant adjustments are necessary to recognized 
amounts. 

As of June 30, 2023, conditional government awards from the 
Education Stabilization Fund awarded and not yet received 
amounted to approximately $457,000 and will be recognized 
when qualifying expenses are incurred over the next two 
years. 
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Receivables 
Receivables are stated at the amounts management expects 
to collect from outstanding balances. Balances that are 
outstanding after management has used reasonable 
collection efforts are written off through a charge to 
uncollectible receivables and a credit to accounts receivable. 
An allowance for doubtful accounts is considered unnecessary 
by management because all significant amounts deemed 
uncollectible are written off each year. 

Income Taxes: 

The School is a 501(c)(3) corporation exempt from taxation 
under §501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code.  

Transportation and Food Services: 

The City School District provides the School with certain 
transportation and food services without cost.  The value of 
these services has not been recorded in the accompanying 
financial statements. 

Use of Estimates: 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial 
statements and accompanying notes.  Actual results could 
differ from those estimates. 

Functional Expense Allocation: 

The School’s costs of providing its various programs and 
activities have been summarized on a functional basis in the 
statements of functional expenses.  Accordingly, certain costs 
have been allocated among the programs and supporting 
services benefited.  These costs include salaries, benefits, and 
payroll taxes, which are allocated based on estimates of time 
and effort, and depreciation and amortization, interest, and 
repairs and maintenance which are allocated based on 
management’s estimate of program benefit. 

2. Receivables: 

2023 2022 
Contributions – federal awards $ 100,661 $ 651,968 
Enrollment fees 97,073 35,069 

$ 197,734 $ 687,037 

Enrollment fees receivable as of June 30, 2023 and 2022 
include amounts withheld by the City School District for 
disputed rates of special education services provided by the 
School from 2016 through 2018 (Note 9). 

3. Property and Equipment: 

2023 2022 
Leasehold improvements $ 546,344 $ 473,218 
Instructional and office equipment 486,525 465,288 

1,032,869 938,506 
Less accumulated depreciation 648,740 554,607 

$ 384,129 $ 383,899 

Depreciation expense amounted to $94,133 and $118,532 for 
the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022. 

4. Short-Term Borrowings: 

The School has available a $200,000 bank demand line of 
credit for working capital secured by essentially all business 
assets with interest payable at prime plus 0.5%.  The line is 
subject to the usual terms and conditions applied by the bank 
for working capital financing and is annually reviewed and 
renewed.  There were no borrowings on the line of credit at 
June 30, 2023 and 2022. 

5.  Lease Liabilities: 

The School leases its building under the terms of a triple net 
zero financing lease agreement through June 2035 and, 
beginning in November 2021, certain equipment under terms 
of a financing lease through November 2026. The building 
lease agreement contains a buyout provision whereby the 
School may terminate the lease in consideration of payment 
of the remaining balance on the mortgage note payable on 
the building held by the landlord and any other amounts due 
the landlord, plus a buyout provision.  The buyout provision is 
based on a fixed schedule starting at $1,326,000 with an 
annual inflation factor escalation clause of 2%. 

Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2016-02, Leases, requires 
for leases longer than one year, a lessee recognize on the 
balance sheets a right of use asset (ROU), representing the 
right to use the underlying asset for the lease term, and a 
lease liability, representing the present value of future lease 
payments. Additionally, the School elected the practical 
expedient not to separate any combined lease and non-lease 
components for the lease contracts.  This ASU was adopted as 
of July 1, 2021 using the retrospective method. As of July 1, 
2021 ROU assets and lease liabilities of $718,200 and 
$1,095,958 were recognized. Under previous accounting 
guidance for leases, these amounts would have been 
presented on the balance sheet as property and equipment 
and long-term debt, respectively. 
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The present value of the School’s lease liabilities at transition 
was calculated using the rate that is implicit in the building 
lease agreements, which is calculated at 10.8%, and an 
estimated incremental borrowing rate of 6% for the 
equipment lease. In determining the incremental borrowing 
rate, the School considered estimated borrowing data for 
similar arrangements as of the transition date. 

As permitted by guidance, leases with expected durations of 
less than 12 months from inception (i.e. short-term leases) 
were excluded from the School’s calculation of its lease 
liabilities and ROU assets. 

The following is a summary of the School’s total lease costs: 

2023 2022 
Financing lease cost: 

Interest on lease liabilities $ 117,082 $ 118,702 
Amortization of right of use assets 59,835 56,279 

$ 176,917 $ 174,981 

The following is a summary of cash paid in 2023 and 2022 for 
amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities: 

2023 2022 
Operating cash flows used for 

interest payments $ 117,082 $ 118,702 
Financing cash flows used for 

principal payments 31,559 25,672 
$ 148,641 $ 144,374 

The following is a summary of the School’s maturity of 
financing lease liabilities: 

2024 $ 148,500 
2025 148,500 
2026 165,828 
2027 160,053 
2028 155,928 

Thereafter 1,188,937 
1,967,746 

Amounts representing interest 886,345 
Net liability 1,081,401 
Less current portion 34,734 
Long-term portion $ 1,046,667 

6. Net Assets: 

As of June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Board of Trustees has 
designated $350,000 of net assets without donor restrictions 
for future capital expenditures. 

7.  Retirement Plans: 

In 2023, the School began to participate in the New York State 
Teachers’ Retirement System (TRS) which is a cost-sharing 
multiple employer public employee retirement system.  TRS 
offers a wide range of plans and benefits which are related to 
years of service and final average salary, vesting of retirement 
benefits, death and disability. 

TRS is administered by the New York State Teachers’ 
Retirement Board and provides benefits to plan members and 
beneficiaries as authorized by the Education Law and the 
Retirement and Social Security Law of the State of New York.  
TRS issues a publicly available financial report that contains 
financial statements and required supplementary 
information. The report may be obtained from TRS at 
www.nystrs.org. 

No employee contribution is required for those whose service 
began prior to July 1976. TRS requires employee contributions 
of 3% of salary for the first 10 years of service for those 
employees who joined from July 1976 through December 
2009.  Participants whose service began on or after January 1, 
2010 through March 31, 2012 are required to contribute 3.5% 
of compensation throughout their active membership in TRS.  
Participants whose service began on or after April 1, 2012 are 
required to contribute a percentage ranging from 3% to 6% 
each year, based on their level of compensation. 

Pursuant to Article 11 of Education Law, rates are established 
annually for TRS by the New York State Teachers’ Retirement 
Board at an actuarially determined rate. The rate is 10.29% of 
the annual covered payroll for the year ended June 30, 2023.  
The required contribution for TRS was $209,203 for the year 
ended June 30, 2023. 

The School also participates in a multiple employer 401(k) 
pension plan covering essentially all employees.  The School 
contributes 5% of employees’ salaries who participate in the 
plan and are not otherwise eligible to participate in TRS, 
subject to certain limitations. The School’s pension expense 
was $63,384 and $129,884 for the years ended June 30, 2023 
and 2022.  

10 
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8. Financial Assets Available for Operating Purposes: 

The School obtains financial assets generally through 
enrollment fees and contributions. The financial assets are 
acquired throughout the year to help meet the School’s cash 
needs for general expenditures.  If necessary, the School also 
has access to a $200,000 bank demand line of credit (Note 4) 
and $350,000 of designated net assets (Note 6), which could 
be made available, through approval by the Board of Trustees. 

The School’s financial assets available within one year of the 
balance sheet date to meet cash needs for general 
expenditures consist of the following at June 30, 2023 and 
2022: 

2023 2022 
Cash available for operations $ 3,417,548 $ 3,343,095 
Receivables 197,734 687,037 

$ 3,615,282 $ 4,030,132 

9.  Contingency: 

In 2019, an audit by the Office of the New York State 
Comptroller determined the City School District had provided 
incorrect special education rates for over a decade.  As a 
result, there is a dispute with the rate used for aid that passes 
through the City School District to the School for special 
education services. 

The City School District recouped approximately $25,600 in 
special education aid in the 2019-20 and 2020-21 school years 
through a reduction in the City School District’s payments for 
enrollment fees earned by the School.   To recover amounts 
withheld and pursuant to guidance, the School has submitted 
a State intercept to the New York State Education Department 
Commissioner and is following all administrative procedures 
to resolve the matter. 

In May 2023, the School received payment from the State for 
the 2019-20 school year recoupment for a total of 
approximately $13,000. Management believes the School will 
receive the remaining funds through the State administrative 
procedure for the 2020-21 school year as well. 

11 



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON 
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

12 

The Board of Trustees 
Charter School of Inquiry 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of Charter School of Inquiry (the School), which 
comprise the balance sheet as of June 30, 2023, and the related statements of activities, functional expenses, and 
cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements, and have issued our report 
thereon dated October 4, 2023. 

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the School’s internal control over 
financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the School’s internal control.  Accordingly, we do not express an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the School’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements 
will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough 
to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section 
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or 
significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal 
control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may 
exist that have not been identified. 

Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the School’s financial statements are free from material 
misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and 
grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the financial statements.  
However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and 
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance 
or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 



Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the 
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the School’s internal control or on 
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards in considering the School’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not 
suitable for any other purpose. 

October 4, 2023 
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MANAGEMENT LETTER 

October 4, 2023 

The Board of Trustees and Management 
Charter School of Inquiry 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of Charter School of Inquiry (the School) as of and 
for the year ended June 30, 2023, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America, we considered the School’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for 
designing auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion 
on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the School’s 
internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the School’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 
misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements 
will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A reasonable possibility exists when the 
likelihood of an event occurring is either reasonably possible or probable as defined as follows: 

 Reasonably possible. The chances of the future event or events occurring is more than remote but less 
than likely. 

 Probable. The future event or events are likely to occur. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph and was not 
designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses. Given these limitations, 
during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material 
weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Trustees and management of the School 
and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties. 



FOR INQUIRIES CALL: ELMWOOD PLAZA OFFICE 
(716) 882-8776 

ACCOUNT TYPE 

M&T ADVANCED BUSINESS CHECKING 
00 0 00047M NM 017 

000000 N 

CHARTER SCHOOL OF INQUIRY 
ESCROW ACCOUNT 
404 EDISON ST 
BUFFALO NY 14215 

ACCOUNT NUMBER STATEMENT PERIOD

 06/01/23 - 06/30/23 

BEGINNING BALANCE $100,000.00 
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MANUFACTURERS AND TRADERS TRUST COMPANY 
ONE FOUNTAIN PLAZA BUFFALO, NEW YORK 14203-1495 





 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
     

 

      

    

     

     

     
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

November 1, 2023 

New York State Education Department 
Charter School Office 

Re: Charter School of Inquiry 

Dear New York State Education Department representative: 

Below pertains to Entry 4c – Additional Financial Documents: 

• Advisory and/or Management letter – not applicable, no management letter issued 

• Federal Single Audit – not applicable 

• CSP Agreed-Upon Procedure Report - not applicable 

• Evidence of Required Escrow Account for each school - attached 

• Corrective Action Plan for Audit Findings and Management Letter Recommendations - not 
applicable, no management letter issued 

Very truly yours, 

Karen Burhans 

Partner 
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1-5 Spring Recess – No School 
8 No School for Students 

Staff Report 
Parent-Teacher Conferences 
7:30 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. 

11-12 NYS ELA Assessments 
Grades 3-6 

19 Third Marking Period Ends 
24 NYS Science Assessment 

7 Election Day – No School 
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Staff Report 
Parent-Teacher Conferences 
7:30 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. 

9 First Marking Period Ends 
10 Veterans’ Day – School Closed 
22 12:30pm Dismissal 

(no extended day) – Staff PD 
23-24 Thanksgiving Recess 

School Closed 

NOVEMBER 23 

S M T W Th F S 

1 2 3 4 
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12 13 14 15 16 17 18 

19 20 21 22 23 24 25 

26 27 28 29 30 

MAY 24 
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24 
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DECEMBER 23 
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30 

25-29 Winter Recess – No School 
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JANUARY 24 

M T W Th F 

1 2 3 4 5 

8 9 10 11 12 

15 16 17 18 19 

22 23 24 25 26 

29 30 31 

S 

6 

13 

20 

27 

1 New Year’s Day – School Closed 
15 No school in honor of Rev. Dr. 

Martin Luther King, Jr. 
26 Second Marking Period Ends 

JUNE 24 

S M T W Th 

2 3 4 5 6 

9 10 11 12 13 

16 17 18 19 20 
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30 
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28 
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1 
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29 

19 Juneteenth – School Closed 
20 Fourth Marking Period Ends 
21 12:30pm Dismissal 

(no extended day) 
Last Day of School for Students 

24 Teacher Recording Day 
(no school for Students) 

August T-9 S-0 
September T-20 S-19 
October T-21 S-21 
November T-19 S-18 
December T-16 S-16 

Total: T-196 S-183 
6.1.23 

January T-21 S-21 
February T-16 S16 
March T-20 S-20 
April T-17 S-16 
May T-22 S-22 
June T-15 S-14 

Charter School 
of Inquiry 
2023-2024 

21-31 Staff Report 

1 Staff Report 
4 Labor Day – School Closed 
5 First Day of School 
7 Meet the Teacher Night 

4:00 – 6:00 p.m. 

8 12:30pm Dismissal 
(no extended day) – Staff PD 
Open House 5:00 – 6:30 p.m. 

28 12:30pm Dismissal 
(no extended day) – Staff PD 

29 Good Friday – No School 

9 Indigenous Peoples/Italian 
Heritage Day – School Closed 

8-9 NYS Math Assessment 
Grades 3-6 

27 Memorial Day – School Closed 
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New York State Cohort Growth Between 2022 and 2023 

ELA Cohort Growth 2022-2023 (same group comparison) 
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Subgroup Enrollment 

Subgroup Enrollment (number of students) 
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